FILED
COURT OF AFPEALS
DIVISION IINo. 439409COURT OF AFPEALS
DIVISION IISUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON2014 SEP 30OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON2014 SEP 30STATE OF WASHINGTONSTATE OF WASHINGTONBY______BY______C. P. B. & L. TRUSTBEPUTY

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Supreme Court Conflict: Decisions of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court. Escrow Agreement - Guaranty Agreement: <u>Wilson Court, Ltd., Partnership</u> <u>v. Toni Maroni's, Inc.</u>, 134 Wn.2d 692, 952 P.2d 540 (1998), <u>Hansen Service v. Lunn</u>, 155 Wash.
 22, 283 P.695 (1930). Contract language: Cambridge Townhome, LLC v. Pacific Star Roofing, Inc.
 166 Wn2d 475, 209vp.3D 863 (2009). Ambiguities interpreted against drafter: Dirk v. Amerco Marketing Co. of Spokane, 88 Wn.2d 607, 565 P.2d 90 (1977); Gaylord v. Tacoma School Dist. Nol 10, 88 Wn.2d 286, 559 P.2d 1340, certiorari denied 434 U.S. 879, 98 S.Ct. 234, 54 L.Ed.2d 160 (1977); Amick v. Baugh, 66 Wn.@d 298, 402 P.2d 342 (1965). Equitable estoppel, Sounders v. Lloyd's of London, 113 Wn.2d 330, 779 P.2d 249 (1989); Spoilation excluding evidence, Pier 67, Inc. V. King County, 89 Wn.2d 379, 573 P.2d 2 (1977); Summary Judgment, Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 656 P.2d. 1039. CR 56©.

2. Appeals Court Conflicts: The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with

decisions of other Court of Appeals. Time is of Essence: *Mid-Town Ltd. Partnership v. Preston*, 69 Wn.App 227, 848 P.2d 1268, *reconsideration denied*, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1006, 859 P.2d 1006 (Div. 1 1993); *Vacova Co. v. Farrell*, 62 Wn.App. 386, 814 P.2d 255 (Div. 1, 1991). Escrow Agreement - Guarantee: *Old National Bank of Washington v. Seattle Smashers Corp*, 36 Wn.App. 688, 676 P.2d 1034 (1984 Div. 1). Terms to be strictly construed: *Seattle First National Bank v. Hawk*, 17 Wn.App. 251, 562 P.2d 260 (1977 Div. 3). Expiation of contract: *. Thayer v. Damiano*, 9 Wn.App. 207, 511 P.2d 84 (Div. 3, 1973). Equitable Estoppel: *Peckman v. Milroy*, 104 Wn.App. 887, 17 P,3d 1256 (Div. 3 2001) as amended 144 Wn. 2d 1010, 31 P.3d 1184.

3. Equal Protection Issues: The decision appears to raise a question under both the Washington State Constitution Privileges and Immunities clause and the 14 Amendment of the Federal Constitution equal protection of the laws by unequal treatment of litigants: *Tunstal ex rel Tunstal v. Bergeson*, 141 Wn.2d 201, 5 P.3d 691, cert. Den. 532 U.S. 920, 121 S.Ct. 1356, 149 L.Ed. 286 (2000); *Petition of Runyan*, 121 Wn.2d 432, 853 P.2d 424 reconsideration denied (1993); *Stone v. Chelan County Sheriff's Dept.* 110 Wn.2d 806, 756 P.2d 736 (1988); *Alton v. Philips Co. V. State*, 65 Wn. 2d 19, 202, 396 P.2d 537 (1964); *State ex rel Bacish v. Huse*, 187 Wash. 75, 59 P.2d 1101 (1936); *Shanks v. Oregon-Washington R. & Nav. Co.*, 98 Wash. 509, 167 P. 1074 (1917).

4. Substantial Public Interest: The Decision of the Court of Appeals raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court: Whether a creditor beneficiary under a deed of trust may be held liable for any Environmental or MTCA claims by reason of being such a beneficiary. Allowing the decision of the Court of Appeals to stand threatens all future real estate secured lending in the state.

5. Substantial Justice Was Denied See record and brief as a whole.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute arose over rights to an escrow account. It was one of two escrow accounts, each for \$500,000.00, posed by secured creditors out of proceeds received from a sale of property, to cover remediation of certain hazardous wastes that may have escaped knowledge or correction prior to the sale of property closing on May 26, 2006, to the Port of Tacoma by Marine View interests and were not created subsequent to that sale. The amount subsequently in question was \$490,000.00 as the Port had settled with the other secured creditor for \$10,000.00 and the million dollar pledged funds were for only a total of \$500,000.00 for any covered remediation costs.

The C.P.B. & L Trust was formed as a spendthrift trust in the winding up of the Camille M. Fjetland guardianship Pierce Court Superior Court Cause No. 93-4-00307-5 to collect the balance owing of a sale price of property from Camille M. Fjetland and the B & L Trucking and Construction Company To 1621 Marine view Drive, Inc (subsequently Marine View, Inc.) that closed on January 25, 1996 and to hold the security interest in the property sold to the Marine View, Inc., interests. (CP 8, 7-49) The Trust never owned any interest in the property, other than a security interest, never operated any business or physical operations on said property nor assumed any obligations for prior owners or operators of said property and does not appear in the chain of title to said property except as a security holder. This is clear from the Port's own evidence, the title report as exhibited in the Declaration of Liberty Waters of January 23, 2012, Exhibit 4 as well as other uncontroverted evidence herein. (CP 179-350)

After considerable cleanup for almost a year prior to closing of the sale, pursuant to agreements between the Port of Tacoma and the Marine View companies (Ex. 1 CP 179-350), a sale of the Marine View Property along with adjacent property formerly belonging to the Foran interests

(Marine View North) was closed on May 26, 2006. This was over ten years after the original sale from Fjetland to Marine View. That Port of Tacoma Purchase and Sale Agreement provided that part of the Purchase price, \$500,000 from the Trust and \$500,000 from the Foran interests, the designated Seller's Creditors, or a similar amount from the proceeds due Marine View and Marine View North, could be held in escrow subject to a later possible claim by the Port not to exceed \$500,000 in the aggregated, for certain work: That Purchase and Sale agreement (to which the Trust was not a party), after clearly describing that Trust and Richard C. Foran as "Seller Creditors" provided specifically §3(c)(2) that (Ex. 1 CP 179-350):

"If within five (5) years of the Closing Date, Buyer discovers any construction debris or other material on the Marine View Property or the Marine View North Property which was not deposited pursuant to a valid permit, or any hazardous substances (as defined by any federal, state or local law) on the Marine View Inc., property or the Marine View North property which were not deposited on such property after Closing, then Buyer shall give notice to Seller and Seller Creditors of such discovery, which notice shall include a detailed estimate prepared by a qualified independent contractor qualified to contract with the Port of the costs to Buyer to remove such debris or other material or remediate such hazardous substances. Where practical, Buyer shall attempt to obtain a fixed bid for such removal, remediation or resolution."

This provision of the purchase and sale agreement was ignored and never complied with as admitted in the declaration of Leslee Conner, Project manager for Port remediation dated June 15, 2012 (CP 867, 860-922, A-38 et seq.). The Port ignored this clear requirement despite having almost a year prior notice of existence of the substances it wanted to remediate (from 2009 to 2010) (CP 860-922).

While the Trust was not a party to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, it was an obvious third party beneficiary of said contract. The Port further limited is rights to make claims under its Environmental Indemnity Agreement as set forth in §5[°] where the Port agreed:

Buyer agrees to look solely to the Special Escrow under Section 3° of this Agreement for satisfaction of indemnity claims under this Section 5° . In addition, Seller's obligations under Section 5° are limited to claims as to which Buyer has given written notice to Seller within five (5) years of closing.

On May 23, 2011, three days before the escrow funds were to be paid to the Trust and the

Forans, the Port sent a letter addressed to the Foran interests making claim against that escrow.

While the Port mentioned many things in its letter of May 23, 2011, it only made claim for metal

contaminations to the seller within five years of closing.

The Trust was not a party to the Purchase and Sale Agreement but a beneficiary of Section (2). The Trust was a party to a separate special escrow agreement which provided holding (2). The Trust was entitled to in satisfaction of the Marine View Debt to it. Under that agreement those funds were clearly recognized as belonging to the Trust. The language of the Escrow Agreement on this point is very clear, Paragraph 10 (Ex. 2 CP 179-350):

Funds in Escrow. Except as provided in Sections 3 and 4 above, the Escrow Funds shall be the property of the Trust. Accordingly, the Trust (and not the Escrow Agent) shall be obligated to pay any income taxes on the income of the funds held in Escrow. The Escrow Agent shall be obligated to issue or cause to be issued to the Trust all Forms 1099 and other forms reporting taxable income of the Escrow.

At most, all the Port had was a contingent claim of up to \$500,000.00 against the million dollars in funds belonging to Foran and the Trust. To make any claim, it had to not only meet section 3 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement but the added provisions of the Escrow Agreement. Those added provisions were as follows, Section 4 (Ex. 1 CP 179-350):

If within five (5) years of the "Closing Date" under the Purchase Agreement, the Port discovers any construction debris or other material on the Property which was not deposited pursuant to a valid permit, or discovers any hazardous substances (as defined by any federal, state or local law) on the Property which was not deposited or released onto the Property after the Closing Date, and such materials or condition are not within the scope of the Negotiated Cleanup Obligations, the Port shall give notice to Marine View Inc. and the Trust

(with a copy to Escrow Agent) of such discovery on the Property, which notice shall include a detailed estimate prepared by a qualified independent contractor qualified to contract with the Port of the cost to the Port to remove such debris or other material or remediate such hazardous substances. Where practical, the Port shall attempt to obtain a fixed bid for such removal, remediation or resolution. After the Port furnishes the Trust and Marine View Inc., with notice of such discovery, Marine View, Inc. and the Trust shall each have a reasonable period of not less than 21 days with respect to hazardous substances, and 5 days with respect to debris or materials which are not hazardous substances, after receipt of notice from the Port (such 21- or 5- day periods to run concurrently) to comment upon the proposed remediation before work on said remediation shall commence, except in case of emergency threatening life or limb of persons on the Property or immediate destruction of the Property. (Emphasis added)

The fact that this prior notice was never given is admitted by the Port in the declaration of

its manager, Leslee Conner (CP 867, 860-922). Was it overlooked because of an emergency? No.

Was it overlooked because of some action taken by the Trust? No. Was it even overlooked because,

as the Port's counsel has argued, it really was not necessary? No. Leslie Conner has given the only

evidence of why the Port failed to give the Trust the notice (page 7 her declaration of June 15, 2012,

paragraph 14):

Port Failed to Provide Remediation 21-day Notice to Trust. The Trust has correctly asserted that the Port failed to provide the Trust with 21-day prior notice of the remediation, which would have allowed the Trust an opportunity to comment on the planned remediation. That failure was the result of an unintentional human error. For unknown reasons, the Port's files did not contain a copy of the Trusts's Escrow Agreement, which is the only place the 21day notice is identified. The omission was compounded by prior departures of Port staff that had managed the purchase of the property.

The five year period in which the claim had to be served on the Trust ended at midnight, May 25, 2011, because the Escrow agreement clearly stated that if no claim had been made by then, the Trust was to be paid on May 26, 2011. Chicago Title Insurance Company was directed to pay the Trust \$500,000.00 by the express terms of Trust's escrow agreement on "the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date..." of that agreement (Escrow Agreement ¶ 7 emphasis added) if no claim had been

filed within the preceding five years. May 26, 2011, was that fifth anniversary and the Port did not serve the Trust with any claim or notice of claim or any other document until May 26, 2011. Tell your spouse if you were married on May 26 and you did not get her a present until later that "Mr. Webster said the anniversary date was May 27" as the Court of Appeals does (A -15), and see how far that will gets you out of the dog house.

After providing all of these notice requirement to perfect any claims against the Sellers and

the Seller's Creditors, The Buyer Port, in the Purchase and Sale agreement gave this rather complete

release of the Trust and All other interest parties 5(d):

(d) Release of Sellers and Seller Creditors. Buyer and its subsidiaries, officers, directors, managers, members, agents, affiliates, and their successors and assigns, each agree that Sellers, their members, shareholders, managers, employees, agents, contractors and their successors and assigns, and the Seller Creditors, and their trustees, officers, shareholders, employees, agents, contractors and their successors and assigns (collectively, the .. "Seller Released Parties"), are hereby released from any and all actions, suits, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, and claims which Buyer may now have or may hereafter have against the Seller Released Parties by reason of any matter relating to or arising from Sellers' or the Seller Creditors' ownership, operation or use of the Property; or the physical or environmental condition of the property; provided, however, that the foregoing release shall not. extend to, or provide a release from, any representations, warranties, covenants: indemnifications made by Sellers in this Agreement or in the documents to be delivered at Closing; and provided farther, that the foregoing release shall not limit or impair claims against the Special Escrow pursuant to Sections 3© and/or 5© of this Agreement. Buyer hereby agrees and acknowledges that factual matters now unknown to it may have given or may hereafter give rise to actions, suits, liabilities, damages, losses, costs, or claims, which are presently unknown unanticipated and unsuspected, and Buyer further agrees, represents and warrants that this Agreement has been negotiated and agreed upon in light of such acknowledgment and that, except as otherwise expressly provided in the preceding sentence, Buyer nevertheless hereby agrees to release the Seller Released Parties as provided in this Section 5(d).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Conditions Not Met Precedent To Port's Claims

The Appeal Court found only one condition precedent to the Port making a claim (21 day notice) and found that it was not material (IX. Timeliness of Port's Claim). This ignores the undisputed facts that the Trust was entitled to other precedent conditions from the Port before making a claim: 21 days notice (Escrow Agreement §4 - ER 2 A-34); Upon <u>discovery</u> of material needing remediation a "notice shall include a detailed estimate prepared by a qualified independent contractor qualified to contract with the Port of the costs to Buyer to remove such debris or other material or remediate such hazardous substances. Where practical, Buyer shall attempt to obtain a fixed bid for such removal, remediation or resolution." (Purchases and Sale Agreement [PSA] §3 (c)2 - ER 1 A-31). So the Trust was entitled to a detailed report from a qualified independent contractor and the costs along with a fixed bid where practical after the discovery of material needing to be removed.

The Port probably received actual information from the Washington State Department of Ecology as early as 2006 that it was investigative the site for hazardous substances, received an "an Early Notice Letter to the Port. in August 2007." and "A Site Hazard Assessment was completed for Ecology by the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department in July 2008; the resulting site ranking was 3." (Conner, ER 5 A-38). Asarco slag was 'discovered' in 2009 (Dagel Declaration CP 928-929, 923-942); Petroleum samples were taken in July, August and October, 2010 (Dagel Declaration supra ER 7). Petroleum deports were 'discovered' in July and November 2009 (Hart Crowser report Jule 27, 2011, exhibit Conner's Declaration January 23, 2011 A-35) and were 'remediated' "between August 14, 2010 and August 20, 2010 and at the southeast overexcavation area between October 2,

2010 and October 11, 2010." (Hart Crowser supra.)

The Port contends, through its witness Leslee Conner, that it failed to give the timely notice upon discovery of the needs for remediation and before action was taken because of negligence on the ports part in misplacing the Escrow Agreement. (Appendix ER 5 A-38: Leslee Conner Declaration of June 15, 2012, page 7 ¶ 14). However she was not there for the full five years and does not know why those earlier chose to ignore that agreement, or why she chose to ignore the PSA agreement requirements. The failure certainly supports the presumptions that the Port considered it did not have any claims that were worth pursuing, at least until it got a new greedy staff that was unaware of all the backgrounds..

Notice specifically limited to the metals contamination (Asarco Slag) was first given to the Trust on May 26, 2011 and about the petroleum was given on July These might have been considered sufficient under the Escrow and PSA requirements but they were given at least eight months after the work was completed and several years after supposed discovery.

Under the theory that the Escrow Agreement was a guarantee, the failure to meet these preconditions completely destroys the claims. The Escrow Agreement is specific in its nature and must be strictly construed according to its terms, *Wilson Court, Ltd., Partnership v. Toni Maroni's*. *Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 692, 952 P.2d 540 (1998), *Hansen Service v. Lunn*, 155 Wash. 42, 283 P.695 (1930). C.P.B. & L. Trust has the right not to have its guarantee enlarged, *Old National Bank of Washington v. Seattle Smashers Corp*, 36 Wn.App. 688, 676 P.2d 1034 (1984 Div. 1). Where the guarantee is conditional, the guarantor's obligation may not be enforced unless the conditional event has occurred or conditional act has been performed. *Bellevue Square Managers v. Granbery*, 2 Wn.App. 760, 469 P.2d 969, review denied 78 Wn.2d 994 (1970).

Under straight contract law the conditions precedent were required to be met before the remediation was performed. Even if the Escrow Agreement were not considered a guarantee agreement, still contract language should be given its ordinary meaning._*Cambridge Townhome, LLC v. Pacific Star Roofing, Inc.* 166 Wn2d 475, 209vp.3D 863 (2009). Ralph Klose, the Port's attorney drafted the Escrow agreement language (Declaration January 23, 2012 (CP 88-178). So even if that language was ambiguous as it must be interpreted most strongly against the Port, *Dirk v. Amerco Marketing Co. of Spokane*, 88 Wn.2d 607, 565 P.2d 90 (1977). Ambiguous language in written instruments should be construed against the party using the language. *Gaylord v. Tacoma School Dist. Nol 10*, 88 Wn.2d 286, 559 P.2d 1340, *certiorari denied* 434 U.S. 879, 98 S.Ct. 234, 54 L.Ed.2d 160 (1977). Clearly the preliminary notice was required before the Port could make any claim. Division 2 of the Court of Appeals agrees *Pierce County v. State* 144 Wn.App. 783, 185 P.3d 594 (2008) *as am on denial of reconsideration*.

Documents relating to the same subject matter that are executed as part of the same transaction are to be construed as part of the same instrument, *Parker v. BankAmerica, Corp.*, 50 F.3d 757 (C.A, 9[Wash] 1995); *Matter of Estates of Whal*, 99 Wn,2d 828, 664 P.2d 1250 (1983). Even Division 2 agrees with that statement, *Dennis v. Southworth*, 2 Wn.App 115, 467 P.2d 330 (1970). The requirements of both the PSA and the Escrow agreement must be interpreted together as preconditions to any Port claim.

The Escrow Agreement (A-34) ¶ 11 specifically provides: "Time is of essence of each and every provision of this Agreement." (CP 179-350). Generally where the time within which an option may be exercised is fixed by a contract, that time is of the essence of the contract, unless waived or performance within that time is prevented by the other party. *Olsen v. Northern S. & S.*

Co.,70 Wash 493, 127 P.2d 112 (1912). Provision in agreement making time of the essence is generally treated as evidence of mutual intent that specified times of performance be strictly construed. *Mid-Town Ltd. Partnership v. Preston*, 69 Wn.App 227, 848 P.2d 1268, *reconsideration denied, review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1006, 859 P.2d 1006 (Div. 1 1993). Where agreement makes time of essence and fixes termination date and no conduct gives rise to estoppel or waiver, the agreement becomes legally defunct upon stated termination date if prior performance is not tendered. *Vacova Co. v. Farrell*, 62 Wn.App. 386, 814 P.2d 255 (Div. 1, 1991).

Failure to Timely Claim Bars Recovery

The Escrow Agreement is specific in its nature and must be strictly construed according to its terms, *Wilson Court, Ltd., Partnership v. Toni Maroni's, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 692, 952 P.2d 540 (1998), *Hansen Service v. Lunn*, 155 Wash. 42, 283 P.695 (1930). The Port's right to make any claim against the C.P.B. & L Trust Escrow and the Title Company's right to recognize any such claim both became defunct at midnight, May 25, 2011. A contract which by its terms has expired is legally defunct. *Thayer v. Damiano*, 9 Wn.App. 207, 511 P.2d 84 (Div. 3, 1973). The Trust was entitled to payment from 12:01 am on May 26, 2011, the fifth anniversary date by the express terms of the Escrow Agreement, not 12:01 am on May 27, 2011, the day after the fifth anniversary date. The Trust's contract to reimburse the Port for any claimed losses expired at midnight, May 25, 2011. On May 26, 2011, the Title Company had left was the right and obligation to pay the \$500,000 to the Trust, ¶ 10 Escrow Agreement.

It Was A Guarantee Agreement

The only possibility for the Port to win, was to argue that the \$500,000 that the Trust put us was not a funded guarantee because under Guarantee law, the Port automatically lost. So the Port

advanced, and the courts below bought, the argument that the escrow agreement was more than a guarantee but was a separate contract supported by consideration of release of MTCA liabilities of the Trust, a l liability that was merely assumed but never shown or proved. There was no consideration for the Trust to commit \$500,000 of the funds owing it by Marine View, Inc., to be placed in escrow to pay claims of the Port of Tacoma, except for the potential debts of Marine View, Inc., which clearly makes this a guarantee contract. Waren v. Washington Trust Bank, 19 Wn.App. 348 575 P.2d 1077, review granted 90 Wn.2d.1022, modified 92 Wn.2d 381, 598 P.2d 701 (Div. 3, 1978). C.P.B. & L. Trust has the right not to have its guarantee enlarged, Old National Bank of Washington v. Seattle Smashers Corp, 36 Wn.App. 688, 676 P.2d 1034 (1984 Div. 1). Where the guarantee is conditional, the guarantor's obligation may not be enforced unless the conditional event has occurred or conditional act has been performed. The guarantee was conditional based upon prior notices required in the Escrow and PSA agreements. Bellevue Square Managers v. Granberv, 2 Wn.App. 760, 469 P.2d 969, review denied 78 Wn.2d 994 (1970). Marine View even recognized its own responsibility to reimburse the Trust for some of the potential losses though the Trust chose to release it from full responsibility for all losses under the guarantee. (Appendix ER 3: Declaration of Liberty Waters filed January 23, 2012. §8 A-35 et seq.)

Metals Not hazardous Waste Before Excavation

Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co., 135 Wn.App. 106, 127, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006). Each liable party "is strictly liable, jointly and severally, for all remedial action costs and for all natural resource damages resulting from the releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances." There really was no evidence that the Trust released or threatened to release any hazardous substances. Under RCW 70.105D.040 five persons are designated as possibly liable for MTCA damages and the Trust fits none of them.

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