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

arguments repeatedly rejected by the lower courts. 

This is a simple case of construing the parties' agreements using 

well established principles of contract law. 

VI. ARGUMENT FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Lower Courts did not apply MTCA and the Trust's 
MTCA arguments are irrelevant. 

The Trust attempts to mischaracterize the Decision by arguing that 

the trial court had to have assumed the Trust had some type of MTCA 

liability in order to find consideration to support the escrow agreement. 

The Trust's argument fails because, as the Court of Appeals determined, 

the escrow agreement was supported by the parties' promises. The Court 

of Appeals stated: 

We do not agree with the Trust, however, that the escrow 
agreement here lacked consideration and was therefore 
unenforceable. 

12 



Here, the Trust allowed the Port to place $500,000 
of the property's sale proceeds in escrow, subject to the 
Port's later claims for environmental cleanup costs within 5 
years of closing. In exchange, the Port agreed to release the 
Trust from MTCA liability for any hazardous substances 
found on the property. Thus, formation of this escrow 
agreement included a bargained-for exchange of promises, 
including the requisite consideration. We hold, therefore, 
that the superior court did not err in granting summary 
judgment to the Port on this ground. 

Decision at p. 12. Neither lower court decided nor even assumed that the 

Trust actually had MTCA liability. They did not need to do so because the 

Port's promise to release the Trust from any MTCA liability it may have, 

and the Trust's agreement to place in escrow $500,000 of purchase money 

proceeds are mutual promises supporting the agreement even without 

determining actual MTCA liability. See Dominguez Estate Co. v. Los 

Angeles Turf Club, Inc., 119 Cal. App. 2d 530, 541 (Cal. App. 

1953)(promise in consideration of settlement of dispute or controversy the 

event of which is uncertain or doubtful, is founded upon a sufficient 

consideration); Harding v. Will, 81 Wn.2d 132, 138 (1972)(settlement 

supported by sufficient consideration when there is a bona fide claim 

which is unliquidated, disputed or doubtful.) 

The Court of Appeals rejected any other MTCA argument the 

Trust may now wish to make, stating: 
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The Trust argues that the superior court erred in 
ordering it to release the escrow funds to the Port because 
the Port [sic] could not be held liable for remediation costs 
until an equitable apportionment of those costs was 
conducted under the MTCA, chapter 70. 1 OSD RCW. 
These MTCA-based arguments are not relevant to our 
analysis of the Trust's liability because neither party 
asserted MTCA claims below, and the superior court did 
not address them .... Accordingly, we do not further address 
the Trust's MTCA-based arguments. 

Decision at pp. 7-8 (footnotes omitted). The Court of Appeals correctly 

rejected the arguments because they were not preserved for appeal, and as 

such they do not merit further review by the Supreme Court. 

Although not necessary for this analysis, the Trust also received as 

consideration, the infusion ofthe Port's purchase money, which provided 

the opportunity for the Trust to settle its ongoing dispute with Marine 

View and to receive payment of $900,000 cash in addition to an interest in 

whatever portion of the $500,000 may be left in the escrow account. CP 

183-226, CP 228-236, CP 238-262. 5 

follows: 

5 The settlement agreement between the Trust and Marine View states as 

F. Marine View desires to sell the Property to the Port of 
Tacoma, a Washington municipal corporation (the ''Port") pursuant to 
a Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Port dated December 9, 2005 
(the "Purchase Agreement"). 

G. The parties desire to enter into this Agreement in full 
settlement of the Obligations, subject to the terms and conditions set 
forth in this Agreement. 

14 



B. The 21-day notice requirement was a promise and not a 
condition precedent, and the Escrow Agreement was 
not a guarantee. 

Contrary to the Trust's unsupported and otherwise unexplained 

assertion that "[t]he Appeal Court [sic] found only one condition 

precedent to the Port making a claim (21 day notice) and found that it was 

not material (IX. Timeliness of Port's Claim)", the Court of Appeals 

actually found there was no condition precedent whatsoever based on the 

3. Discounted Payoff The Trust hereby grants to Marine View 
the right and option to satisfy all of the outstanding Obligations by 
tendering to the Trust, on or before June 30, 2006, the sum of One 
Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1 ,400,000) (the "Payoff 
Amount"), payable in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and 
the Escrow Agreement (defined below). The 

8. Release of Obligations. The Trust and Marine View 
acknowledge that the Trust has agreed to accept the Payoff Amount in 
full satisfaction of all Obligations of Marine View ... in connection with 
the Obligations ... 

9. General Release of Trust. The Marine View Parties and their 
successors and assigns, further agree that as of the Closing, the Trust, 
and its trustees, officers, shareholders, employees, agents, contractors, 
predecessors and their successors and assigns (collectively, the 'Trust 
Released Parties"), shall be released from any and all actions, suits, 
liabilities, damages, losses, costs and claims which the Marine View 
Parties may now have or may hereafter have against the Trust Released 
Parties by reason of any matter relating to or arising from the Trust's or 
its predecessors' ownership, operation or use of the Property, or the 
physical or environmental condition of the Property, or the Obligations; 
provided, however, that the foregoing release shall not limit or impair 
claims of the Port under the Escrow Agreement against the Escrow 
Funds pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement. 

Settlement Agreement CP 238-240 (emphasis in original). 
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absence of any evidence of intent to create one. The Court of Appeals 

correctly reviewed the elements of a condition precedent: 

'[T]he intent of the parties to create a condition precedent 
may often be illuminated by phrases and words such as 'on 
condition,' 'provided that,' 'so that,' 'when,' 'while,' 
'after,' or 'as soon as." Lokan & Assocs., Inc. v. Am. Beef 
Processing, LLC, 177 Wn. App. 490, 499, 311 P.3d 1285 
(2013) (quoting Ross v. Harding, 64 Wn.2d 231,237, 391 
P.2d 526 (1964)). But such words are not required: 'Any 
words which express, when properly interpreted, the idea 
that the performance of a promise is dependent on some 
other event will create a condition.' Ross, 64 Wn.2d at 23 7. 

Decision at p.16, f.n. 16. Then, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the 

analysis and found only the parties' promises and no condition precedent: 

This portion of the escrow agreement contained two 
promises. First, the Port promised to provide 21 days notice 
to the Trust before remediating hazardous substances on the 
property. Second, the Trust agreed to allow the Port to be 
reimbursed from the escrow funds after remediation was 
completed. There is no language in the agreement, 
however, suggesting that the Trust' s promise to allow 
release of the funds was dependent on the Port' s providing 
pre-remediation notice. Accordingly, we hold that the 21-
day notice and comment period required by the escrow 
agreement was not a condition precedent to the Trust' s 
release of the escrow funds to the Port. 

Decision at p. 19 (footnote omitted, emphasis added). 

Unable to show that the escrow agreement evidences an intent to 

make the 21-day notice period a condition precedent, the Trust falls back 

16 



to arguing that the escrow agreement was a guarantee. Apparently, the 

Trust does this so that it can avail itself of the rules of construction for 

guarantees that require strict interpretation in order to avoid enlarging the 

guarantor's obligations beyond those intended when the agreement was 

formed. However, the Trust fails to even attempt to make a showing that 

the escrow agreement is a guarantee. Instead, the Trust only assumes the 

escrow agreement is a guarantee,6 and then seeks to impose inapposite 

principles of guarantee law, which the Court of Appeals also rejects. The 

Court of Appeals correctly rejected the Trust's guarantee theory, stating: 

The Trust first argues that the escrow agreement 
was a 'guarantee' that had to be strictly enforced according 
to its terms. Br. of Appellant at 26. We disagree. 

The Trust does not specifically explain the effect of 
a guarantee on interpreting the escrow agreement here, 
contrary to RAP 1 0.3(a)(6). Instead, the Trust's brief cites 
basic guarantee principles and offers only the following 
argument: 

The escrow agreement is nothing 
more than a contract to answer for the debts, 
the guarantee of certain specific obligations 
of Marine View, Inc. The Trust never had 

6The Trust introduces the topic by stating: "[u[nder the theory that the Escrow 
Agreement was a guarantee, the failure to meet these preconditions completely destroys 
the claims." Pet. at p. 9 (emphasis supplied). From that point the Trust moves 
immediately on to arguments that each assume (without citation to the record, without 
citation to authority and without any explanation) that the Escrow Agreement is a 
guarantee. 
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any obligation to perform any remediation 
on the property nor did it have any 
independent liability for such needs or 
actions because any independent liability it 
might have had was released in the Purchase 
and Sale agreement. 

Br. of Appellant at 26. This argument does not persuade us 
to adopt the Trust' s position. Therefore, we hold that there 
has been no showing that the escrow agreement was to 
operate as a guarantee along the lines that the Trust 
suggests. 

Decision at pp. 15-16. This too, is no basis for accepting review. 

C. The Port's notice was timely. 

Here again, the Trust fails to explain how the Court of Appeals' 

decision to affirm the trial court's finding that the Port's notice was timely, 

represents a conflict with other Court of Appeals or Supreme Court 

decisions, or how it implicates a significant question of constitutional or 

public interest import. In contrast, the Court of Appeals again rests its 

decision on well settled Supreme Court precedent, this time from 1902: 

The Port counters, and we agree, that it had until 
May 26, 2011, the fifth anniversary of the closing date, to 
make a claim to the escrow funds. When computing time 
from a particular date, the general rule excludes that start 
date. See Perkins v. Jennings, 27 Wash. 145, 149, 67 P. 590 
(1902). Moreover, the plain meaning of the term 
"anniversary" connotes the same month and day in a later 
year. See Webster's Third New International Dictionary 87 
(2002). We hold, therefore, that (1) the escrow agreement's 
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five-year period began on May 27, 2006, and its five-year 
"anniversary" fell on May 26, 2011; (2) accordingly, the 
Port had until May 26, 20 11, to make a claim to the escrow 
funds; (3) the Port's May 26, 2011 claim was timely under 
the agreement; and ( 4) the superior court did not err in 
concluding as a matter of law that the agreement required 
the remaining escrow funds to be disbursed to the Port. 

Decision at pp. 14-15. The Court of Appeals' decision was correct and the 

Port's notice was timely made. The Supreme Court should not accept 

review of this argument. 

D. The Trust did not raise its "Metals Not-hazardous
Waste-Before-Excavation" argument in the Court of 
Appeals. 

The Trust cannot raise this issue in the Supreme Court because (1) 

it is a MTCA issue, which as the Court of Appeals found, the Trust failed 

to argue in the trial court;7 and (2) the Trust did not argue in either the trial 

court nor the Court of Appeals that the metals were not hazardous waste 

before excavation. 8 RAP 2.5(a); Hall v. Feigenbaum, 178 Wn. App. 811, 

817-18, 319 P.3d 61, review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1018 (2014) (Appellate 

court may refuse to review any claim of error not raised in trial court). 

7Decision at pp. 2, and 7-8. 

8See, Decision at pp. 1-2 (the metals-not-hazardous-waste-before-excavation 
argument is not among the Trust's 13 arguments acknowledged by Court of Appeals as 
having been raised in the Trust's appeal). 
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The Court should not accept review of this issue either. 9 

VII. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Port requests that the Court 

decline to review the Decision. The Port also requests that pursuant to 

RAP 18.1, the Court award the Port its reasonable attorney fees incurred 

responding to the Trust's petition for review.